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CAMERON D., individually and as
father and next friend of J.D., aminor,

Plaintiffs,
V. 4:17-cv-00022-ACA

ARAB CITY BOARD OF
EDUCATION, et al.,

L e e e e e e )

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

This matter comes before the court on Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment. (Doc. 45).

Plaintiffs in this caseare a minor, J.D., whis developmentally delayednd
his father, Cameron D. Based on events that took place during sebosd year
of kindergartenat the Arab Primary SchodPlaintiffs filed suit againsthe Arab
City Board of Education,Dr. Leah Keith Patrick Crowder Callie Cranford
Tracey Putman,and Margaret Eddie. DKeith was theprincipal of the Arab
Primary Schoql Mr. Crowder was the school’'s special education coordinator;
Ms. Cranford was J.D.’s kindergarten teacher during at least part of theZ11h
school year; MsPutmanwas J.D.’s paraprofessional aide during #044-2015

and 2015-2016 school year and MsEddie was the school's head custodian.
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(Doc. 4720 at 2; Doc. 422 at 2; Doc. 423 at 2; Doc. 489 at 6364; Doc. 47
21 at 1).

After Plaintiffs filed against the Board of Education an administrative
complaint undethe Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C.
8 1400 et seq. they moved to Mississippi, where J.D. now attends school. A
hearing officer denied Plaintiffs’ administrative complaagfainst the Boardand
Plaintiffs appeal that decision, while also raising claims undeAthericans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. 82132; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 894, and Alabama law.

Specifically,in addition to their IDEA appeal, Plaintiffs assert that:

(1) the Board of Education viokatithe ADA and Section 504

(2)the Board of Education is liable for negligence, false imprisonment,
harassment, assault, and battery;

(3) Ms. Cranford and MsPutman in their individual capacitiesare liable
for false imprisonment, harassment, assault, and battery;

(4) Ms. Eddie in her individual capacityis liable for assault and battery;
and

(5) Dr. Keith and Mr.Crowder in their individual capacitiesgre liable for
negligence.

! Although the complaint does not list which counts relate to which
defendantsPlaintiffs’ counsel stated at a hearing the ADA and Section 504 claims
are assertedgainst only the Board of Education. (Tr. at 35).



After the parties briefed the motion and the court held a motion hearing, the
court took themotionunder submissionThe courtWVILL GRANT the motion for
summary judgment The courWILL DISMISS AS MOOT Plaintiffs’ appeal of
the IDEA complaint because J.D. is no longer a student at the Arab Primary
School. The courtWILL DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE the state law
claims against the Board of Education because sovereign imnanisythose
claims The courtWILL DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE the state law
claims againsMs. Cranford, MsPutmanMs. Eddie, Dr.Keith, and Mr.Crowder
because thse defendantare entitled to state agent immunitfhe courtWILL
GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT in favor of the Board of Education and
against Plaintiffs orthe ADA and Section 504&laims because Plaintiffs have
presented no evidence creating a genuine dispute of material fact about whether
Defendants intentionally discriminated against J.D.

l. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

Plaintiffs allege the Board of Education violated the IDEPhe IDEA has
many purposes, but relevant to this case, it was enacted “to ensure that all children
with disabilities have available to them a free appropriate public education that
emphasizes spa&l education and related services designed to meet their unique
needs and prepare them for further education, employment, and independent

living,” and “to ensure that the rights of children with disabilities and parents of



such children are protected20 U.S.C. 81400(d)(1)(Ax(B). To accomplish that
purposethe school and the parents of a disabled ctagelopwhat is known as

an individualized education program that describes, among other information, the
child’s current levels of academic achievement and functional performance and “an
explanation of the extent, if any, to which the child will not participate with
nondisabled children in the regular class.” 20 U.S.C.14881(d)(1)(A)(i),
1414(d)(1)(B);see alsdrtega v. Bibb Cty. Sch. DisB97F.3d 1321, 1324 (11th

Cir. 2005).

A parent may file an administrative complaint about “any matter relating to
the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of the child, or the
provision of a free appropriate public education to such chil@0 U.S.C.
81415(b)(6). Once a parent has filed an administrative complaint, “the parents or
the local educational agency involved in such complaint shall have an opportunity
for an impartial due process hearing, which shall be conducted by the State
educational agency or by the local educational agency, as determined by State law
or by the State educational agency.” 20 U.S.C4B(f)(1)(A). In Alabama, the
State Superintendent of Education appoints a hearing officer to conduct the due
process hearqn Ala. Admin CodeR. 2938-9-.08(9)(c)4. Parents may appeal the

decision of the administrative hearing office to the district court, where the court



will review de novothe complaint and may hear additional evidence if necessary.
20 U.S.C. 81415()(2(A).

The other federal statutes that Plaintiffs say Defendants violated are Title Il
of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehdlmhtact.
Title Il of the ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shaly, b
reasons of such disability, be excluded from participation in, or be denied the
benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to
discrimination by any such entity.” 42 U.S.C13132. Section 504 of the
Rehabiliation Act provides in relevant part that “[n]Jo otherwise qualified
individual with a disability in the United States. shall, solely by reason of her or
his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be
subjected d discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal
financial assistance.” 29 U.S.C784(a). “Discrimination claims under the ADA
and the Rehabilitation Act are governed by the same standards, and the two claims
are generally discussed w&iger.” J.S., lll by & through J.S. Jr. v. Houston Cty.
Bd. of Educ.877 F.3d 979, 985 (11th Cir. 2017).

The distinction between an IDEA claim and an ABAction 504claim is
that “[tlhe IDEA guarantees individually tailored educational services, \abere
Title 1l and 8504 promise nodwliscriminatory access to public institutiens

specifically aiming to root out disabildlyased discrimination, enabling each



covered person to participate equally to all others in public facilities and federally
funded progams.” Id. at987 (quotation marks and alteration omitted).

[I. BACKGROUND

In deciding a motiorior summary judgmenthe courtmust first determine
if the parties genuinely dispute any material facts, and if they do not, whether the
moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of awed.R. Civ. P.56(a).
Under Rule 56, the court “draw][s] all inferences and review[s] all evidence in the
light most favorable to the nemoving party.” Hamilton v. Southland Christian
Sch., Inc.680 F.3d 1316,318 (11th Cir. 2012) (quotation marks omitted).

Both parties submitted evidence in relation to this motion for summary
judgment. Plaintiffs’ brief in opposition to summary judgment, however, also
relies on materials that the court cannot consider in deciding thermoiost
notably, Plaintiffs argue that the court should conclude that disputemtefial
fact exist because one witness, Melanie Collier, made statements to plaintiffs’
counsel that contradict her sworn deposition testimony. (Doc. 50-48)12 But
Plaintiffs present nothing other than allegations in their brief thaOdklier made

those contradictory statements, and the court cannot consider allegations in a brief

? Defendants contend that as to the state law claims, the court must use
Alabama’s approach to determining motions for summary judgment. (Doc. 46 at
20-22). This is incorrect. The court must use the federal standard in determining
whether the grandummary judgment, even as to state law claifSse Lighting
Fixture & Elec. Supply Co. v. Cont’'l Ins. G420 F.2d 1211, 1213 (5th Cir. 1969).



as evidence at the summary judgment st&ggeFed.R. Civ. P.56(c)(1) (“A party
asserting that a fact. is genuinely disputed must support the assertion. by
citing to particular parts of materials in the record.”); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986)The court has drawn its description of thets from the
evidencesubmitted in support of and opposition to Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment. Taken in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, those facts are
as follows.

At the beginning of the 2032015 school year, J.Dthena fouryearold
who lived with his grandmother, Janet Thompson, bégaaergarten at the Arab
Primary Schob (Doc. 46 at 10seeDoc. 4726 at 11). The Arab City Board of
Education (“Board”)soondetermined that J.D. was eligible for special education
and relatedservices because he was developmentally delayed, and assigned Abby
Brown to be J.D.’s special education teachdbDoc. 4917 at 14 Doc. 4938 at
37, 40; Doc. 489 at 35) Near the end of the school yeakD.’s IEP team
decided that J.D. would repekihdergarten during the 2048016 school year
because he had not mastered the standards required to be promoted to first grade.
(Doc. 4938 at 37, 4950; Doc. 4939 at35-37; Doc. 4953 at 37).

At the beginning of the 2032016 school year, Defendant l{za Cranford

was assigned as J.D.’s special education teacher; Angela Hill was assigned as his

* Ms.Brown’s last name is now Huff, but for consistency, the court will
refer to her as “MsBrown.”



general education teacher; and Defendant Tracey Putman was assigned as his aide.
(Doc. 4939 at 61, 6364; Doc. 4948 at 21, 2223; Doc. 4722 at 2). From
October 2015 through March 2016, teachers and staff at Arab Primary School
documented disciplinary problems with J.D., such as him hitting, punching,
kicking, headbutting, pulling hair of teachers and students; spitting at people;
throwing rocks and chairs; rolling on the ground; screaming; and on one occasion,
exposing himself. (Doc. 498 at 1416, 23-35; Doc. 4919 at 131).

This case concerns what happened dutheg2015-2016 school year
J.D.’s secongear ofkindergarter—andprimarily involvesMs. Cranford’s method
of putting J.D. in timeoutthe school reassigning J.D. from Mxanford’s
classroom to MsBrown'’s, the school’s use dftransport restraintto move D.
from one place to another, and one particular incident which eventuallyDed
family to take him out of school and plahim on homebound services for the rest
of the school year.

A. Timeouts in the Rifton Chair

Ms. Cranford testified that sheccaionally had J.D. sit in a childized
Rifton chairfor a twominute timeoutwhen he was misbehavindDoc. 4947 at
45-46). A Rifton chair is a wooden adaptive chair meant to be used by people
with certain physical disabilities. It has a cloth strafhvai threeprong buckle at

the waist. (Id. at 46;Doc. 4719 at7). Although J.D. had no physical need for a



Rifton chair, MsCranford would have him sit in it because when he sat in a
normal chair, he woul@slump out of the sides,” and he had a tendency to “rock
the chairs and flip them over(Doc. 4347 at 4547).

The Arab Primary School had two Rifton chaoege that had been modified
to be more stable and one that was unmodifildoc. 4719 at 3) The parties
dispute several facts relating teeieRifton chais, including (1) which teachers
used a Rifton chair for timeouts; (@hich d the two chairs stored at the school
wereused for J.Ds timeouts(3) how many timeg.D. was made to sit mRifton
chair for a timeoytand (4)whether J.D. could unbuckle himself or get out of the
chair on his own (SeeDoc. 46 at 1; Doc. 50 at 12).

Plaintiffs allege that MsBrown and MsCrawford usedhe modified Rifton
chair for J.D.’s timeouts. SeeDoc. 50 atl11-13). But they present no evidence
that Ms.Brown ever put J.D. in a timeowat all that anyoneother than
Ms. Cranfordput J.D.in timeouts;or thatwhenMs. Cranford and MsPutmanput
J.D. in a timeout, theysed the modified Riftoohair. Even viewing the evidence
in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, the court cannot find that a genuine dispute
exists about who put J.D. in a Rifton chair or which chair was uSedHamilton
680 F.3dat 1318. Instead,al of the evidence indicates th#s. Cranford and
Ms. Putmanused the unmodified chdior J.D.’s timeouts (SeeDoc. 4719 at 3;

Doc. 4918 at 1, 10; Doc. 5Q at 26-21; Doc. 563 at 12-13).



Next, Plaintiffs allege that J.D. was put in the Rifton chair ten to twenty
times but againthey present no evidence in support of thegation relying
instead orstatementsnade in their brief. SeeDoc. 50 at 12). The court cannot
consider thosstatementé determining whether a genuine dispute of material fact
exists. SeeFed.R.Civ. P. 56(e). Instead, theundisputed evidencehows that
Ms. Cranfordand Ms.Putmanhad J.D. sit irthe Rifton chair for a timeout on three
occasions (Doc. 4946 at 75 Doc. 4947 atl, 4546, Doc. 501 at 23.

The first two times MsCranford used the Rifton chair were in October or
November 2015, and the last time was in January 2016. (Det/ 49 £-46.).

Ms. Cranford testified that on the first occasion, she buckled J.D. into the chair; on
the second occasion, he buckled himself in; and on the third occasion, the strap
was not buckled. (Doc. 497 at 47 Doc. 4848 at 4). In addition,Ms. Putman,

J.D.’s paraprofessional aide, testified thiaé s@ssist in strapping J.D. into the
Rifton chair three times(Doc. 4947 at 2). Accordingly, Plaintiffs have failed to

meet their burden of establishing a genuine dispute of material fact about the
number of times J.D. was put in the Rifton chair for a dinte

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that J.D. could not unbuckle the chair or remove
himself from it without help. (Doc. 50 at 412). Ms.Putman testified that J.D.
was “easily” #&le to unbuckle the chair, and both M&.anford and MsPutman

testified that J.D. could “freely” get himself out of the chdDoc. 4947 at4, 14;

10



Doc. 4948 at 8). But another paraprofessional aidds. Collier, testified that
although J.D.“might could unbuckle himself,.. that chair was too small for
him.... So he—he would have turned it over or he had to have help to get out of
that. Now, I'm sure he could unbuckle.it.. But getting out was a different
was altogether different.” Doc. 581 at 23. Because a confit exists about
whether J.D. could get out of the chair by himself, the court accepts as true the
evidence thaalthough J.D. could unbuckle the strap, he could not extricate himself
from the chair without help.

According to a letter prepared by [eith, Ms.Thompson contacted
Dr. Keith on February 6, 2016, and stated that “she did not want [J.D.] to have
access to or be placed in the [Rifton] chaiffor any reason.” (Doc. 499 at 40).
As a result, DrKeith had the chair removed from J.D.’s Spkceducation
classroom and she instructed the teachers that “the chair at issue (or any such cha
orthopedic or medical support chair [sic]) could under no circumstances be utilized
to address behavioral issues with a studend?).(

B. Reassignmenb Ms.Brown'’s “Self-Contained"Classroom

Although he had some disciplinary problems beginning in October 2015,
Ms. Cranford—J.D.’'s special education teacher at the #nbestified that his
behavioral issues began escalating in February 2016. (Detf 492728). On

March 8, 2015, DrKeith senta number of school employeas email stating:

11



| spoke with JanefThompsoi [J.D.’s grandmotherthis afternoon.

We discussed havin§J.D.] moved to Abby Browrs seltcontained

classroom instead of the regukducation classroom to manage his

behavior since we experienced success with the approach last year.

She was agreeabltherefore, we will ty it. If we are successful, we

will change his ceemanager to Abby. He will need to complete the

same classwork as MHIll’s other students.
(Doc. 4919 at 29). Several teachers testified that a -ts@iftained classroom” is
one in which the students remain all dgipoc. 4948 at 20see alsdoc. H-40 at
14-15). Ms. Brown testified that, despite the reference to her classroom being
self-contained, it was not actually selbntained because the students come and go
between their special education classes and their general education dBsses.
49-38 at 4648).

The day after DrKeith sent that email, the school assigned Btswn as
J.D.’s special education teacher, and she remained his teacher uril 8Cyr

2016. (Doc. 4389 at 5, 48).

C. TransporiRestraint

Plaintiffs also challengethe school’'s use of transpadstraintto moveJ.D.
when he was resistant to instructions to go to the front offireKeith described
the method asifivolv[ing] physical support being provided by a trained individual
to a child’s shoulder and elbows ae to prevent injury while being escorted to

another locatiori. (SeeDoc. 4959 at %). Plaintiffs contend that no one at Arab

12



Primary School was trained in this method of transportation, so they could not use
iton J.D. (Doc. 50 at 15).

On March 30,2016 J.D. misbehaved at recesg hitting another child and
throwing rocks in the air, and as a resiMt. Brown anda paraprdéessional aide
named Katherine Spenderought J.D. back to the offiaesing transportestraint:
(Doc. 4949 at 43. A videotaken in the front office that day showts. Brown
and Ms.Spencemwalking J.D. into the school’'s front office, eatiolding one of
his arms. Exh.G-1 at 20:4420:58). J.D. resistant,walks forward with
reluctanceuntil shortly after they entethe office, at which point he comes to a
complete stop and drops down to sit on the groufdl at 20:57421:11). At that
point the teachers leave him sitting on the groumdLl).

Although Plaintiff's briefing is not entirely clear, they appear to chaéleng
only the use of transport restraint on this occasi@ee (@enerall{pocs. 12, 50).

D. March 30, 2018

Plaintiffs challenge the school’s and its employee’s actions on March 30 for
more than just their use of transport restraifter Ms. Brown andMs. Spencer
transpored J.D. to the front office he moved in front of the office’s door. (Exh.

G-1 at 21:1321:32). The school’'s head custodian, Defendant Margaret Eddie,

* The hearing officer stated that the paraprofessional aide waButtean,
but Dr.Keith testified that the person in the video was Sfsencer. $eeDoc. 49
1 at 35; Doc. 499 at 42). There is no evidence indicating that Mgman was
involved in the March 30 transport of J.D.

13



approached him where he sat and nudged him four times with her(Eodt. G-2
at 00:1500:24). J.D. desnot react to her action.Id(). Plaintiffs contend that
this constitutesvidence that M€ddie kicked J.D. (Doc. 50 at 15).

After the interaction with MsEddie, J.D. continued to crawl and run around
the office, hitthg the door and walls, tipping over chairs, and throwing or knocking
objects off desks. (Exh.-& at 00:4#15:01). Eventually his grandmother,
Ms. Thompson, came to the offiand instructed J.D. to pick up after himself.
(Exh. G3 at 00:0%7:00;see asoDoc. 4950 at 14). He and Ms.Thompsornwent
into Dr.Keith’s office. (Exh. G3 at 8:36-11:15). Thevideodoes not show what
wenton inside DrKeith’s office, but it does show MBrown standing outside the
open door (Id.).

The video does not haaudiorecording butDr. Keith testified thatduring
this portion of the videoMs. Thompson told J.D. to apologize and NBsown
asked him to tell everyone what he was sorry for. (DoeSt@t 17). J.D.
responded “buckle chairand Ms.Brown said that J.D. had never sat in a buckle
chair in her classroom. (Doc. 4949 at 44). According to DrkKeith,

Ms. Thompson said not to call J.D. a liar and that “he was being subjected to
abuse.” [d.). Ms.Brown said that she did not like how M&ompson was
speaking to her. Id.). At thatpoint, Dr.Keith told Ms.Brown to go back to her

classroom. I@. at 4546). The video shows DKeith appearing in the do@nd

14



touching MsBrown on the shoulder(Exh. G3 at 11:1511:26). Ms. Brown |&ft
the office. (d.).

For her part, MsThompsontestified that, while she and J.D. were in
Dr. Keith’'s office, Ms.Brown “stood in MsKeith’'s office in [J.D.]'s face,
pointing in his face, telling him he’s a liar, hollering at him and telling him to tell
me that that buckle chair was not used for him anymore.” (Ded64% 20, 33).
She testified that “M%Keith had to scream at her own teacher twice to go back to
her classroom because her teacher was screamingpandur faces.” I{l. at 33-
34). But the video evidencdirectly contradicts MsThompson’s testimony, as it
showsMs. Brown standingstill in the dooway to Dr.Keith's office.

Dr. Keith testified that, based on MEBhompson'’s allegation of abuse, she
investigated and prepared a writtaport. (Doc. 4919 at 37£38). During her
investigation, Be spoke with MsThompsonabout her concerns and “questioned
everyone involved.” Ifl. at 38). She later prepared a lettaddressing “the
reported incidents thgMr. D] or others have raised doehalf of[J.D.].” (Doc.
49-59 at 3641).

E. The Aftermath

After the March 30 incident].D. returned to M<ranford’s classroom from
Ms. Brown'’s classroom, but he attended only a few days of school. (D@ 40

30-31; Doc. 4948 at 2-3). At that point, he began receiving homebound services.

15



(Doc. 4945 at 6). On June 27, 2016Mr. D and his son moved to Mississippi
where they began living with MD’s fiancée (Doc. 4944 at 22, 24). Mr. D
testifiedat the due process hearing that, three weeks into the new school year at his
new school in Mississippi, J.D. was not experiencimg laehavioral issues.ld( at

16).

F.  Procedural History

On March 22, 2018, MD, through counsel, submitted a request for an
iImpartial due process hearing under the IDERoc. 496 at 18; Doc. 4% at 73).

In an amended due process complditgéd soon after Mr. D requested various
forms of injunctive reliefas well as compensation for private education “[i]f [the]
system cannot provide a Free Appropriate Public Education to[thepstudent’s
needs. (Doc. 496 at 1).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing officer idsukengthy written
opinion denying Mr.D’s complaint. (Doc. 494 at 769). Mr. D then filed a
judicial complaintin this courf appealing the hearing officer’s decision and raising
the ADA, Rehabilitation Act, andate law claims now before the court. (Doc. 1).
The operative pleading is an amended complaint filed in March 2017. (Doc. 12).

1. DISCUSSION

Defendants move for summary judgment. (Doc. 4Because this case

involves both an IDEA appeal and original claims, the standard under which the

16



court must analyze Defendants’ arguments is different from the usual summary
judgment standardSeeloren F ex rel. Fisher v. Atlanta Indep. Sch. Sy49 F3d

1309, 1313 (11th Cir. 2003)The [Federal Rule of Civil Procedure] 56 summary
judgment principles do not apply in an IDEA case Accordingly, the court will
address the IDEA appeal before moving on to thelD&A claims.

A. IDEA Appeal

In their briefs on the motion for summary judgment, the parties argued the
merits ofthe hearing officer's denial d¥ir. D’'s amended due process complaint.
They did not addreghe effect ofMr. D and J.D.’'s move to Mississippi. But the
court has “an obligatiomotnotice and decide mootness issuebiited States v.

Sec'y, Fla. Dep't of Corrs.778 F.3d 1223, 1226 (11th Cir. 2015). Accordingly,

the court ordered the parties to address, at a motion hearing, whether J.D.’s transfer
to a school in Mississippi mootee appeal of the administrative decision. (Doc.
77). They did so, and the court now concludes that the IDEA appeal is moot.

“Under Article Il of the Constitution, federal courts may adjudicate only
actual, ongoing cases or controversied.éwis v. Catinental Bank Corp.494
U.S. 472, 477 (1990). “Simply stated, a case is moot when the issues presented are
no longer ‘live’ or the parties lack a legally cognizable intereshendutcome.”

Powell v. McCormack395 U.S. 486, 4961969) “A case becoms moot only

when it is impossible for a court to grant any effectual relief whateveheo t

17



prevailing party.” Knox v. Serv. Employees Int'|l Union, Local 10867 U.S. 298,

307 (2012) (quotation marks omittedn Mr. D’'s amendedudicial complaint he
requested both injunctivend monetary relief. (Doc. 12 at-4l&). Accordingly,

the court must address whether the move to Mississippi moots any or all of those
requests.

The court concludes that MD's requests for injunctive relief are moot.
J.D.has moved to Mississippi, where he is currently enrolled in school. (Dec. 49
44 atl6,22, 24). Even if the Arab Primary School’s past treatment of him violated
the IDEA, injunctive relief could not afford him any “effectual relief” besmine
IS no longer a student at the scho&eeKnox 567 U.S.at 307, Bd. of Educ. of
Oak Park v. Nathan R.xerel. Richard R.199 F.3d 377, 381 (7th Cir. 2000)
(“[The action is now moot due to Nathan’s graduation from high school. Nathan
graduated from high school in 1998, and no action this court might take would
affect his or the School’s rights.”Moseleyv. Bd. of Educ. of Albuguerque Pub.
Sch, 483 F.3d 689, 693 (10th Cir. 200(hplding that an IDEA appeal was moot
because the student had graduat&d)\. v. Old Bridge Twp. Bd. of Edu2006
WL 3333138, at *2 (D.N.J. Nov. 15, 2006) (holding that an ID&#peal was
moot because the student had relocated to another school in another state, and
“Plaintiffs in this [IDEA appeal] request only prospective relief, which would be

impossible to grant?)
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At the motion hearing before this court, Plaintiffs assetiat the appeal is
not moot because it fits within the very narrow “capable of repetition, yet evading
review” exception to the mootness doctrindir. @t 24. That exception “applies
where(1) the challenged action is in its duration too short toutlg fitigated prior
to cessation or expiration; and (Bgre is a reasonable expectation that the same
complaining party will be subject to the same action agakiA. ex rel. F.A. v.
Fulton Cty. Sch. Dist.741 F.3d 1195, 1200 (11th Cir. 2013plairtiffs contend
that because J.D. has lived in Arab with his grandmother in the past, “there is a real
possibility he may at some point live back with his grandmother who lives in
Arab.” (Tr. at 24-25).

The possibilitythatJ.D. may someday live with his grandmother in Arab is
not sufficient to revive Plaintiffs’ requests for injunctive relief. “The remote
possibility that an event might recur is not enough to overcome mootness, and even
a likely recurrence is insufficient if there would be ample oppostdaitreview at
that time.” Hall v. Sec'’y, State of Ala. F.3d __, 2018 WL 4103168, at *5 (11th
Cir. Aug. 29, 2018) (quotingl Najjar v. Ashcroft273 F.3d 1330, 1336 (11th Cir.
2001)). Plaintiffs have not shown any actual likelihood that J.D. etilirn to live
with his grandmother in Arab, or that if he did, Arab Primary Schmalld resume
its challenged conductr in the event both of those possibilities come to pass

there would not be ample opportunity for review at that time.
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Plaintiffs also request monetary damages in their amended judicial
complaint seeking “compensatory damages and reimbursement for their out of
pocket expenses, transportation to and from [a doctor’'s office], and expenses
involved in moving to relocate J.D., etc.(Doc. 12 at 17). Theamended
complaint does not specify whether those monetary damages arise fronktthe 1D
appeal or the other claims asserted in the complafgee id. At the motion
hearing, the court asked Plaintiffs’ attorney to explain the basis for any
compensatory damages sought under the IDEA. at 26-30). Plaintiffs’ counsel
brought up onlythe fact that J.Chadmissed days of schoahd that he had to seek
mental health treatment, and he later conceded that he was not seeking
compensatory damageasder the IDEAfor mental health treatment.(ld.).
Accordingly, the only compensatory damages that Plaintiffs seek appear to relate
to the days of schdthat J.D. missed.

The IDEA gives district courts authority “to grant such relief as the court
determines is appropriate.” 20 U.S.C1415()(2)(B)(iii). But the Eleventh
Circuit hasheld that “the IDEA’s primary purpose is to ensure [a free apprapriat
public education], not to serve as a4idte mechanism for compensating personal
injury.” Ortega v. Bibb Cty. Sch. Dist397 F.3d 1321, 1325 (11th Cir. 2005)
(quotation marks omitted) (alteration in originaBee also id.at 132526

(collecting cases from the First, Second, Fourth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, and Ninth
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Circuits holding that compensatory damages are not available under the IDEA).
This is becausétlhe IDEA’s central mechanism for the remedying of perceived
harms is for parents to seekanges to a student’s program,” and other federal
statutes, such as the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act, provide avenues to recover
compensatory damagekd. at 1325 (quotindPolera v. Bd. of Educ288 F.3d 478,
486 (2d Cir. 2009.

But the Ortegadecision does not preclude the recovery of all mone&disf
under the IDEA. Indeed, it acknowledges that-ftont-like damages—such as
reimbursement of expensesnay be available.ld. The Eleventh Circuit has not
defined the exact contours of that@mages available, but they include “expenses
that [the Board of Education] should have paid all along and would have borne in
the first instance had it developed a proper IEPStch. Comm. of Town of
Burlington v. Dep’t of Educ. of Masst71 U.S. 359, @-71 (1985) (holding that
the IDEA’s predecessor statute grants courts the power “to order scitootittes
to reimburse parents for their expenditures on private special education for a child
if the court ultimately determines that such placementerdtian a proposed IEP,
is proper under the Act”)

Because Plaintiffs have not identified any expenses that the Board of
Education should have paid if it had developed a proper IEP, the court concludes

that the monetary damages Plaintiffs seekler thelDEA are not available to
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them As a result the IDEA appeal is moot. See Knox 567 U.S.at 307.
Accordingly, the courWILL DISMISSASMOOT the IDEA appeal.

B. NonIDEA Claims(ADA, Section 504, and State Law Claims)

Defendants contend that they aretited to summary judgment on
Plaintiffs’ ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims because Plaintiffs have not
presented evidence of intentional discrimination on the part of any defendant and
that various forms of immunity protect them from Plaintiffs’ state Eams
(Doc. 46 at 2445). Plaintiffs oppose summary judgment primarily on the ground
that Defendants spoliated evidence. (Doc. 50 aR8)/ They also briefly argue
that the alleged IDEA violations constitute violations of Ai®2A and Section 504,
and that immunity does not protect Defendants from liability for their criminal
acts. [d. at28-44).

1.  Spoliation of Evidence

Plaintiffs contend thaDefendants’ spoliation of evidence warrants denial of
the motion for summary judgment. (Doc. 501&:28). They contend thdhey
requestedbut Defendants failed to produaeridence about themodified Rifton
char; evidenceof physical restraint used on J,@ocumentatioraboutrestraint
training completed by teachevgho “may or will have contact wh” J.D.; and

video and audio recordinggld. at 18).
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The Eleventh Circuit has held that spoliation of evidence may warrant
sanctions, including exclusion of evidence or even dismissal of a ¢dse/ v.
Daimler Chrysler Corp. 427 F.3d 939, & (11th Cir. 2005) see also
Fed.R.Civ.P.37(e) (providing various remedies for failureo preserve
electronically stored information that cannot be restored or replaced, if the loss of
evidence prejudices another party)[F]ederal law govers the imposition of
spoliation sanctions but the court may also look to state where the state law is
“wholly consistent with federal spoliation principles Id. Alabama defines
spoliation as “an attempt by a party to suppress or destroy materiah@vide
favorable to the partg adversary. Vesta Fire Ins. Corp. v. Milam & Co. Const.
901 So. 2d 84, 93 (Ala. 20Q0%ee alsdil Equip. Co. Inc. v. Modern Welding Co.
Inc., 661 F.App’'x 646, 652 (11th Cir. 2014) Spoliationrefers to‘the destruction
or significant alteration of evidence, or the failure to preserve property for
anothers use as evidence in pending or reasonably foreseeable litigation.
(quotingWest v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Ca67 F.3d 776, 779 (2d Cir. 1999)

The Eleventh Circuithas not addressed the burden of priwofa party
seeking spoliation sanctionbut a district court has held that the party seeking
such sanctions “must prove that (e missing evidence existed at one time;
(2) [the other party] had a duty to preserve the evidence; anbdg&vidence was

crucial to [the moving party] being able to prove their case.” In re
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Delta/AirTran Baggage Fee Antitrust Litijg/ 70 F.Supp.2d 1299, 1305 (N.D. Ga.
2011)

Plaintiffs contend that Defendants spoliated evidence about the modified
Rifton chair evidenceof physical restraint used on J,[Rlocumentation about
restraint training completed by teache#tso “may or will have contact with” J.D.
andvideo and audio evidencgDoc. at 18). Even assuming that thedsnce at
Issue actually existsa showing that Plaintiffs have not madPlaintiffs have not
established that the evidenees crucial to their case. Indeed, much of the
evidence is irrelevant to their case

a. TheMaodified Rifton Chair

With respect to the modified Rifton chair, Plaintiffs have presented no
evidence that any teacher required J.D. to sit in the modified chair instead of the
unmodified chair. Nor have Plaintiffs explained how access to the modified chair
would establish tat the teachers requdd.D. to sit in that specific chair, or how
requiring him to sit in that chair instead of the unmodified cwauld changdhe
analysis of whether the timeouts violated federal or state B&cause Plaintiffs
have presented noieence or argument establishing how the absence of evidence
about the modified Rifton chair negatively impacts their case, the court concludes
that spoliation sanctions are not warranted for spoliation of evidence regarding the

modified Rifton chair.
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b. Evidence of Physical Restraint
As to evidence of physical restraint used on J.D., Plaintiffs allege that
Defendants failed to disclose every incident of physical restraint used on J.D.
They do not explain how they know that evident@indisclosed uses ghysical
restraint existed. Seeln re Delta/AirTran Baggage Fee Antitrust Litig770
F. Supp.2d at 1305 (requiring the movant to establish that “the missing evidence
existed at one time”). Nor have they established how documentation of the use of
more physical restraint is crucial to their case, given that the Alabama
Administrative Code provides thatteacher may “use his or her discretion in the
use of physical restraint to protect students or others from imminent harm or bodily
injury.” Ala. Admin. Code R. 29¢B-1-.02(1)(f)(2.)(xiii). Accordingly, they have
not met their burden of establishing that sanctions for spoliation of that evidence
are warranted.
C. Documentation of Restraint Training
Plaintiffs contend that they sought documentatiboua whether teachers at
Arab Primary School were trained in or certified to use restraint on s, cdemd
Defendants failed to disclose such evidence. (Doc. 3@)t Again, Plaintiffs
have not met their burden of establishing that spoliation sascéi: warranted

because they have not demonstrated why that evidence is crucial to their case.
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d. Videoand Audio Evidence

Plaintiffs contend that Defendants concealed or destroyed video and audio
evidence apparently of teachers transporting J.D. using physical restréduc.

50 at 18). They base that argument on the fact that the school had video cameras
set up around the campus, e Board did not produce videos taken from all of
those cameras(ld. at 18-19). At the motion hearindjowever Plaintiffs’ counsel
conceded that he did not know if the video he sought ever existed. (Tr. at 46).

Plaintiffs also contendahat Defendants concealed video evidence that
Ms. Collier and unidentified “other people” took of J.D. (Tr. at 44). @allier
testified thashetook some videos of J.D. on her phone, butreh&ned the phone
on which she took that video to AT&TDoc. 561 at 12) At the motion hearing,
Plaintiffs’ counsel conceded that he never asked her whether she returned that
phone beforddiemade a discovery request for that vid€dr. at 44). Accordingly,
Plaintiffs have not shown that Defendants had@mirol over that video.

Because Plaintiffs have presented no evidence demonstrating that the video
and audio that they sought ever existedthat Defendants had control over the
video and audiahey have not established that Defendants spoliated titgnee.
Accordingly, the court will not deny the motion for summary judgment as a

sanction for spoliating evidence.
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2. Merits of ADA and Section 504 Claims

The amended judicial complaint alleges that the Board violated the ADA
and Section 504 becausethé same actions that purportedly violated the IDEA.
(SeeDoc. 12 at 1213). Defendants contend that they are entitled to summary
judgment onthose claims because Plaintiffs have not presented evidefce
intentional discrimination on the part of any eleflant (Doc. 46 at 2429).
Plaintiffs respondthat a genuine dispute of material fact exists because J.D. is an
individual with a disability who was denied the benefit of participating in the
general education classroom. (Doc. 50 ai38].

The ADA axd the Rehabilitation Actpply to public schools. Fry v.
Napoleon Comm. Schl37 SCt. 743, 749 (2017). To prevail on a claim under
Title 1l or Section 504, a plaintiff must establish

(1) that he is a qualified individual with a disability; (Rat he was

either excluded from participation in or denied the benefits of a public

entity’s services, programs, or activities, or was otherwise

discriminated against by the public entity; andt{@ the exclusion,

denial of benefit, or discrimination was bgason of the plaintiff's

disability.

J.S, 877 F.3d at 98%quotation marks omitted)?[T] o prove discrimination in the
education context, something more than a mere failure to provide the ‘free

appropriate education’ required by IDEA must be showhS, 877 F.3dat 985-

86 (quotation marks and alterations omitted).
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“A plaintiff may establish intentional discrimination by showing deliberate
indifference,”which is ‘an exacting standard; school administrators will only be
deemed deliberately indifferent if their response or lack thereof is clearly
unreasonable in light of the known circumstancekl” at 987 (quotation marks
omitted)(alteration in original).Plaintiffs mustalsoshow that the officer who was
deliberately indifferent had “authority to address the alleged discrimination and to
Institute corrective measures on the organization’s behadf."(qQuotation marks
omitted).

Plaintiffs have presented no evidence of intentional discrimination or
deliberate indifference. To the contrary, the evidence shows that aftér d
J.D.’s grandmother complained, DBteith undertook an investigation into the
allegations and sent them a report about her firsdi@oc. 4949 at 37-38; Doc.

4959 at 3641). She also instructed the teachers at the school to stop using
adaptive equipment like the Rifton chair when addressing students’ behavioral
issues. (Doc. 499 at 40).

To the extent that the ADA and Secti604 claims are based on the school
moving J.D. to MsBrown’s “selfcontained classroom,” (doc. 49 at 29),
Plaintiffs have presented no evidence that students irBMgn’s classroom are
isolated from general education students, and Defendants have produced evidence

that those students move between the general education and special education
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classrooms. SeeDoc. 4338 at 4648; Doc. 4948 at 20; Doc. 4910 at 1415). In
addition, the email discussing reassigning J.D. to Bigwn’s classroom states
that the school did so with his grandmother’'s consent, and for the purpose of
addressing his behavioral issues. (Doc19%t 29). Accordingly, it does not
create a genuine dispute of material fact about whether the Board intdntional
discriminated against J.D. based on his disability.

The courtWILL GRANT summary judgment to Defendants and against
Plaintiffs on the ADA and Section 504 claims.

3.  State Law Claims

The second amended complaint asserts the following state law claims
against the Board and the individual defendants: false imprisonment, harassment,
negligence, assault, and battery. (Doc. 12 at 14). Defendants contend that the
Board is entitled to sovereign immunitpdathe individual defendants are entitled
to state agent immunityAlabama statutory immunity, and federal statutory
immunity. (Doc. 46at 30-34, 3744). Plaintiffs respond only that state agent
immunity does not shield the defendants because they acted outside the scope of
their authorityandengagdin criminal activity. (Doc. 50 at 3&9).

a. The Board of Education
The court concludes that sovereign immunity protects the Board from any

state law claims raised against irticle |, 814 of the Alabama Constitution
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provides that “the State of Alabama shall never be made a defendant in any court
of law or equity.” Ala. Const., art. I, 4. The Alabama Supreme Court has
repeatedly held that B4 protects county school boards from suits based on state
tort law. See Walker v. Jefferson Cty. Bd.Educ, 771 F.3d 748, 75%4 (11th
Cir. 2014) (citingex parte Montgomery Cty. Bd. of EQU88 So.3d 837, 841 (Ala.
2012)andEx parte Hale Cty. Bd. of Edyd4 So.3d 844. 848 (Ala. 2009))As a
result, the courWILL DISMISS the claims against thBoard of Educatioras
barred by sovereign immunity

b.  Thelndividual Defendants

Although Defendants raised various forms of immur(gge Doc. 46 at 3—

34, 3744),the court will address only state agent immunity because it resolves all
of the claims against the individual defendants.

In Alabama, stategent immunity protects employees of the State “from
civil liability in his or her personal capacity when the conduct made the basis of the
claim against the agent is based upon the agent'exercisingijudgment in the
discharge of duties imposed byatsite, rule, or regulation in.. educating
students' Feagins v. Waddy978 So. 2d 712, 716 (Ala. 200{Quotation marks
and emphases omittedEach of the individual defendants is a state agent:
Dr. Keith was the principal of Arab Primary School, Mrowder waghe school’'s

special education coordinator; M3ranford was J.D.’s kindergarten teacher during
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atleast part of the 2032016 school year; M®utmanwas J.D.’s paraprofessional
aide during the 2012016 school year; and MBddie was the school’'s head
custodian. See, e.g.Louviere v. Mobile Cty. Bd. of Edu&70 So2d 873, 878
(Ala. 1995) (holdingthat the janitor of a school was entitled to state agent
Immunity.

Furthermore, the actiortkat Plaintiffs allege constitute torts were taken in
the exercise of the individual defendants’ official duti&ee Feagins978 So2d
at 716. So the only question before the court is whether an exception to state agent
immunity lifts Defendants’'immunity from the state law claims. State agent
immunity does not protect State employees “when the State agent acts willfully,
maliciously, fraudulently, in bad faith, beyond his or her authority, or under a
mistaken interpretation of the law Feagins 978 So2d at 716 (quotation marks
omitted).

Plaintiffs appear to contend that this exception lifts the bar on the state law
claims because the individual defendants committed crimes against J.D. and acted
contrary to the State’s regulations on the use of restrdduc. 50 at38-39). But
they havepresented no evidence creating a genuine dispute of material fact about
whetherthe individual defenaints committed any crimes against J.br. acted
contrary to the State’s regulations on the use of restraint. The court will address

each individual defendant separately.
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First, the court concludes that MSrowder, as the school's special
education coordinator, is entitled to state agent immunity. It is unclear from the
amended complaint what MZrowder is alleged to have dontite complaint
asserts only that he was negligent in discharging his duties to mekéhat his
employees were not falsely imprisoning, harassing, assaulting, and battering J.D.
(Doc. 12 at 14). Plaintiffs presented no evidence or argument aboQrdivder
in partiaular. Accordingly, because Plaintiffs have presented no evidence to show
that Mr.Crowder acted outside his authority or in a criminal manner, the court
WILL DISMISSthe claims against him.

Next, the court concludes that Bteith, the school’s principal, is entitled to
state agent immunity. As with ME€rowder, the amended complaint alleges only
that Dr.Keith is liable for negligence in discharging her duties. (Doc. 12 at 14).
But the undisputed evidence shows that, when J.D.’s family notifiedfhbeio
problems with how J.D.'s teachers were treating him, she undertook an
investigation, instructed the teachers to stop using the Rifton chair, and issued a
report to Mr.D and Ms.Thompson. (Doc. 489 at 3738; Doc. 4959 at 3641).
Because Plairfts have presented no evidence to show thakBith acted outside
of her authority or in a criminal manner, the codftLL DISMISS the claims

against her.
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Likewise, the court concludes that Msddie, the school’s head custodian, is
entitled to state amnt immunity. The sole allegation against her is that on March
30, while J.D. was sitting in the front office, she “kicked” him. (Doc. 12 at 15).
But the video evidence of the incident refutes that allegati@eeHKxh. G2 at
00:15-00:24). Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs
and drawing all inferences in their favor, NEgldie’s action in the video is not a
kick. SeeKick, Webster’'s Third New International Dictionadnabridged(Philip
Babcock Gove edl97]) (“[A] blow or suddenforceful thrust with the foot and
esp. the toe.”) (emphases addedccordingly, Plaintiffs have failed to present
any evidence that she acted outside of her authority or in a criminal manner, and
the courtWILL DISMISSthe claim against her.

The last two defendants are MBitman, J.D.’s paraprofessional aide, and
Ms. Cranford, J.D.’s special education teacher. Plaintiffs make no specific
argument about their entitlement to state agent immursigeoc. 50 at 3839),
but the court assumes Plaintiffs base their objection to immunity oRbdi®ian’s
use of the Rifton chair and transport restraint, and@ranford’s use of the Rifton
chair.

Alabama Administrative Rule 2981.02(1)(f) addresses various forms of
restraint, only two of which arrelevant to this case. First, the rule defines

“mechanical restraint” as “fle use of any device or material attached to or
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adjacent to a studést body that is intended to restrict the normal freedom of
movement and which cannot be easily removedheay student. Ala. Admin.
Code R.290-3-1-02(1)(H)(1.)(i). Alabama prohibits the use of mechanical
restraint in public schools and educational prograias. Plaintiffs contend that
the use of the Rifton chair to put J.D. in timeouts was a prohibitezl af a
mechanical restraint{Doc. 50 at 1)1

The other form of restraint relevant to this case is “physical restraihich
Rule 2903-1.02(1)(f) definesas “[d]irect physical contact from an adult that
prevents or significantly restricts a student’s movement,” but excludes from that
definition “providing limited physical contact and/or redirection to promote student
safety or prevent seihjurious behavior, .. providing guidance to a location.
or providing limited physical contact as reasonably needed to prevent imminent
destruction tochool or another person’s property.” Ala. Admin. Céde€903-1-
02(1)(H(1.)@i). Physical restraint is generally prohibited in Alabama public
schools, with limited exceptionsAla. Admin. Code R. 293-1-.02(1)(f)(2.}v).
Plaintiffs appear tocontend that the transport restraint is a prohibited form of
physical restraint. (Doc. 50 at 15).

The court rejects any contention that a violation of these sections would lift
state agent immunity from the individual defendants. Fin&,rtile prohibiting

various forms of restraindlso providesthat “[n]othing in this rule shall be
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construed to eliminate or restrict the ability of an employee of a school system,
school or program to use his or her discretion in the use of physical restraint to
protect students or others from imminent harm or bodily irdjunpla. Admin.
CodeR. 2903-1-.02(1)(H)(2.)(xii). Further, the rule provides that “[n]othing in
this rule shall be construed to create a criminal offense or a private cause of action
againstany local baard of education or program or its agents or employe&s.”
The court reads that provision to mean that a violation of the regulation is not an
act that lifts the protection of state agent immunity from the individual defendants.
In addition, the court notes that, although Kisanford and MsPutman
were involved in using the Rifton chair for timeouts, there is no evidence that
either of them used transport restraint to move J.D. to the front offineMdbch
30, the school employees who moved J.D. to the front office wer8idan and
Ms. Spencer, neither of whom is a defendant in this caSeebExh. G1 at 20:44
20:58; Doc. 491 at 35; Doc. 4919 at 42). And even if they had transported J.D. in
that manner, Alabama regulations expressly gsahtol employees discretion to
“use. . .physical restraint to protect students or others from imminent harm or
bodily injury.” Ala. Admin. CodeR. 2903-1-.02(2)(f)(2.)(xiii).
Accordingly, the courWILL DISMISS the claims against M®utman and

Ms. Cranbrd because state agent immunity bars those claims.
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[11. CONCLUSION

The courtWILL GRANT Defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

The courtWILL DISMISS AS MOOT Plaintiffs’ appeal of the IDEA
complaint because J.D. is no longer a student at the Arab Primary Schuel.
courtWILL DISMISSWITHOUT PREJUDICE the state law claims against the
Board of Education because sovereign immunity bars those claims. The court
WILL DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE the state law claims against
Ms. Cranford, MsPutman, MsEddie, Dr.Keith, and Mr.Crowder because those
defendants are entitled to state agent immunity.

The court has jurisdiction only over the ADA and Section 504 claiftee
court WILL GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT in favor of the Board of
Education and against Plaintiffs on Plaintiffs’ ADA and Section 504 claims.

The court will enter a separate order and final judgment consistent with this
opinion.

DONE andORDERED this September 26, 2018

ANNEMARIE CARNEY AXON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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